Casso0&#039;s Wellness Store & Gym, L.L.C. v. Spectrum Pharmacy Products, Inc. Doc. 46

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA

CASSO’S WELLNESS STORE & CIVIL ACTION
GYM, L.L.C.

VERSUS NO. 17-2161
SPECTRUM LABORATORY SECTION “N” (2)

PRODUCTS, INC.

ORDER & REASONS

Before the Couris aMotion to Dismiss forLack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction pursuant
to Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(1) filed by the defend&mectrum Laboratory Products, IftSpectrum”
or “Defendant).! (Rec. Doc. 13)Plaintiff Casso’s Wellness Stora Gym, LLC (“Casso’or
“Plaintiff”) opposeghe Motion (Rec. Doc 20). Spectrunfiled a replyin support of its Motion
(Rec. Doc. 26), which was followed by Cassas+eply (Rec. Doc 32). Now, having considered
the extensivesubmissions of the parties, the record, and the applicable law, theOEMNHES
the Motionto Dismiss for Laclof Subject Matter Jurisdictioior the reasons stated herein.

l. BACKGROUND

Casso’s Wellness Store and Gym, LLC (“Casso” or “Plaintfffiéd aputativeclass action
suit againsSpectrum Laboratory Products, Inc. (“Spectrum” or “Defendamtjerthe Telephone
Consumer Protection Act of 1991 (“TCPA”), as amended by the Junk Fax Protection Act of 2005

(“JFPA"), seeking to recover damages for and to enf@pectrum’'smassive junk faxing

L Spectrum concurrently filed an alternative motion to dismiss andike stass allegations. (Rec. Doc. 15).
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campaigr? (Rec. Doc. 1as amended by Rec. Doc. M. its Complaint,Cassodefinesthe

“Plaintiff Class” to include:

[A]ll persons and entities that are subscribers of telephone numbers to which within
four years of the filing of this Complaint, Defendant sent facsimile transmgssion
with content that discusses, describes, promotes products and/or services offere
by Defendaty and does not contain the apit notice required by 47 U.S.C. 8
227(b)(1)(C)(iii), (b)(2)(D), (b)(2)(E), (d)(2) or 47 C.F.R. 8 64.1200(a)(4)(ui}) .

(Rec.Doc.1 at pb).

Casso alleges that Spectrum violateel TCPAand the reglations promulgatednder the
Act by the Federal Communications Commission (“FA8y"Jblastingthousands ofunsolicited]
junk faxesnationwide”to advertise their goods and/or servig@ec. Doc. 1 at p. 4). “Plaintiff
further alleges that Defendant has blasted junk fexm®ut complying with the OpOut Notice
Requirements, in direct violation of the TCPA, JFPA and the FCC'’s reguldt{dt3. Casso
identifies Spectrum’s alleged violations of the Act as including, but not limitedegansolicited
facsimile advertisements sent to Casso’s facsimile telephone numhgecember 21, 2016;

February 14, 2017; February 17, 2017; and February 24,20@d.7at p. 9.

Cassoalleges that it has suffered the followiigmagesas a result ofSpectruns

unsolicited faxes:

Defendant has imposed disruption, annoyance and cost on Plaintiff. Among other
things, these faxes tie up Plaintiff's telephone lines and facsimile machines
misappropriate and convert Plaintiff's fax paper and toner, reglaiatiff to sort
through faxes to separate legitimate fax communications from junk fax
advertisements and to discard the latter.

2 Casso filed a Firshmended Class Action Complainhdune 5, 2017{Rec. Doc. 9).
3 Plaintiff attached the challenged faxes to the Complaint.
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(Rec.Doc. 1 at p. 5). AdditionallyCasscclaims to havesuffered an injury in that it has also been
deprived of its right, created by Congress, to receive the requirezlibpbtice disclosures on
facsimile advertisements governed by the TCPAd” &t p. 6).Casso on behalf of itself and
members othe purported class, seeks the issuance of a permanent injunction, a&s deelages
in the amount of $500 for each violation of the TCPA by Defendant, and trebled statutorgslamag
for violations Defendant committed “willfully or knowingly.1d. at pp. 10-11).

On July 31, 2017, Qetrum filed the instant Motioto Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter
Jurisdiction pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(bafigSpokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36
S. Ct. 1540 (2016xplleging that theCourt lacks subject matter jurisdiction because Chsds
standing to sue. (Rec. Doc.-13atp. 11). Specifically, Spectruntontendsthat Casso’sclaim
involves ‘a strictly statutory violatiorfthe alleged failure to include a complaint-opt notice)
not a concrete injury sufficietd satisfy Article 11l standing requiremerit¢ld. at p. 2).Spectrum
argues thatin addition to failing to allega sufficient injury in factCasso haalsofailed to show
that the injury is traceable to the allegedPA violation. (d. at p. 19. Spectrum furthecontends
that the “safeharbor exceptiori applies because the parties had “@stablished business
relationship(“"EBR”).” (See d. at p. 17) Moreover,Spectrummoves for dismissal because it
claims itsufficiently complied withthe opteut notice requiremesty including the following
language on the referenced faxe®o “unsubscribe please call us at 800.370.6231 or fax this
special back to us with your fax number at 800.901.351&. at p. 14.

In its opposition, Casso contends that (1) the EBR defense fails as a mattebetdase
Casso hatever done any business with, voluntarily communicated with, or in any way asked to
receive correspondence of any type from Spectrand (2) even if the EBR defense applies,

Spectrum’s unsolicited facsimile advertisements do not cpomith the TCPA'’s requirements for



a valid optout notice. SeeRec. Doc. 20 at p 2-3). Further, Casso asserts that substantial
compliance with the optut requirements is inadequate and not a defense to a violation of the
TCPA. (d. at p. 8). NextCassasserts that both of its claimdhat Spectrum’s junk fax campaign
violates the TCPA because the faxes are unsolianedails to contain the statutoridygnandated
opt-out language-conferArticle Ill standing. Id. at p. 4).Casso states that Parggnal6 of its
Complaint identifies the actual, concrete harm Casso suffered by bamggtdf Spectrum’s junk

fax campaign.Ifl. at p. 11). Moreover, Casso argues that “courts have found, in the wake of
Spokeo that receipt of unsolicited fax advertisements satisfies Artitlstanding under the

TCPA? (Id. at p. 13).

In reply, Spectrumreiterates thepplicability of theEBR safeharbor defensand that
substantial compliance with the eqit requirements is sufficient. (Rec. Doc. 26 at pSpectrum
claims the parties hadan established business relationshgsed onprior business dealings
between Spectrum ar@ncologyRX, LLC, a company formerlpwnedby Mike Casso (also the
owner ofCasso’s Wellness Store & Gym, LLQld. at p. 3) Spectrm argues that thiglationship
applies toCasso’s Wellness Store & Gym, LUGcause both companies were ownedike
Casso and Mike Casso cleow utilize the same fax nmber for his subsequent compaiig.)
Moreover, Spectrumarguesthat the language ihaded on its faxes “conveys the essence of the
required informatiot andthat at least one court has deemed substantial compkatistactory
as a defensgld. at pp. 45). Spectrum asserts that the applicability of the EBR defense strips
Casso of aconcreteinjury sufficient under Article Il because the faxes fall under the EBR
exception, “the only possible violation Casso’s can allege is not that it recekesi visthout

basis...but that the opt-out notices were not fully compliafd."at . 5-8.



Casso filed a sureply, arguing thatandsman & Funk, P.C. v. Lorman Business Center
Inc., 2009 WL 602019 (W.D. Wis. Mar. 9, 2009), cited by Spectrusupport ofits substantial
compliance arguments distinguishable becau$g) the optout languageat issue inLandsman
contained all of the required information &) the plaintiff provided express permission for the
defendant to send fax advertisements. (Rec. Doc. 32 at-pp.lidstead, Casso asserts that
Spectrum’s opbut language is “alméddentical” to the opbut language contained Bais
Yaakov of Spring Valley v. Alloy, In@36 F.Supp 2d 272 (S.D. NY. 2013), and is “woefully
deficient” as it does not convey the essence of the required informsgiealfically it fails to

satisfy“ 64.1200(a)(4)(iii)(B)(C).” (Id. at p. 3-4).

Il. LAW AND ANALYSIS

a. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1)

Rule 12(b)(1) provides for the dismissal of an action upon a finding by the court that it
does not have subject matter jurisdiction. Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(bXTrse is properly dismissed
for lack of subject matter jurisdiction when the court lacks the statutognstitutional power to
adjudicate the caseHlome Builders Ass'n of Miss., Inc. v. City of Madjsb8 F.3d 1006, 1010
(5th Cir.1998)(quotingNowak v. Ironworkers Local 6 Pension Furgl F.3d 1182, 1187 (2d
Cir.1996)).As the party invoking the jurisdiction of the federal court, the plaintiff beatsutden
of demonstrating that jurisdiction exisBow v. Agrosciences, LLC v. Bat&32 F.3d 323, 326
(5th Cir. 2003).“Courts may dismiss for lack of subject matter jurisdiction on any one of three
bases: (1) the complaint alone; (2) the complaint supplemented by undisputexl flaetsecord,;
or (3) the complaint supplemented by undisputed facts plus the court's resolution of digpsited fa
Clark v. Tarrant County798 F.2d 736, 741 (5th Cir.1986) (citidglliamson v. Tucker645 F.2d

404, 413 (5th Cir.1981)).



b. Standing

It is well settled that unless a plaintiff has standing,derf@ district court lacks subject
matter jurisdiction to address the merits of the case. In the absence of stHratmgs no “case
or controversy” between the plaintiff and defendant which serves as the basisdrelttise of
judicial power under Aicle Il of the constitutionWarth v. Seldin422 U.S. 490498-99 95 S.
Ct. 2197, 2206, 45 L.Ed.2d 343 (1975). The key question is whether the plaintiff has “alleged such
a personal stake in the outcome of the controversy” as to warrant federgligsdidtion. Baker
v. Carr, 369 U.S. 186, 204, 82 &t. 691, 703, 7 L.Ed.2d 663 (1962). ruling on a motion to
dismiss for lack of standing, courts must accept as true all material allegaitiblesComplaint,
and must construe the Complaint in favor of the complaining pafdyth v. Seldin4d22 U.S. 490,

501, 95 S. Ct. 2197, 2206, 45 L.Ed.2d 343 (1975).

A plaintiff invoking federal jurisdiction bears the burden of establishing thedicible
constitutional minimum of standing,” which consists of three elemétiteplaintiff must have
(1) sufferedan injury in fact (2) that isfairly traceable to thehallenged actioof the defendant
and (3)that islikely to be redressed by a favoralpelicial decision.”Spokeo, Inc. v. Robin$36
S. Ct. 1540, 15472016)(citing Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlif&c04 U.S. 555, 5661 (1992).
Plaintiff's failure to establish any onelementdeprives the federal courtd jurisdiction to hear
the suit.Steel Co. v. Citizens for a Better Eng23 U.S. 83, 103, 118 &€t. 1003, 140 LEd. 2d

210 (1998).

Here, the parties dispute whetl@assahas sufficiently gd a concrete injury in factlT o
establishinjury in fact a plaintiff mu$ show that he or she suffereain' invasionof a legally
protected interest’ that is ‘concrete and particularized’ antual or imminent, not conjectural or

hypothetical.” Spokeo136 S. Ctat 1548 (2016) (quotinggujan, 504 U.S. at 560)A ‘concrete’
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injury must be de factg; that is, it must actually exist3pokeol36 S. Ct. at 154&ongress may
“elevat[e] to the status of legally cognizable injuries concdetéactanjuries that were previously
inadequate in law.Lujan, 504 U.S. at 578&lowever even in the context of a statutory violation
“Article 1ll standing requires a concrete injutySpokep 136 S. Ct.at 1549. In some
circumstances, “the violation of a pemural right granted by statute can be sufficient...to
constitute injury in fact,” such that “a plaintiff in such a case need not allegadditionalharm

beyond the one Congress has identifiéd.”
c. Telephone Consumer Protection Act

The Tekphone Consumer Protection AETCPA”), enactedby Congressn 1991 and
amended by the Junk Fax Prevention Act of 2Q@®hibitsthe transmission ofinsolicited
advertisements via telephonefacsimile machine, computer, orher device.47 U.S.C. §
227(b)(1)(C) (emphasis added)n enacting the TCPA, “Congress sought to protect consumers
from the unwanted intrusion and nuisance of unsolicited telemarking phone calls and fax
advertisement$.Van Patten v. Vertical Fitness Gr.LC, 847 F.3d 1037, 1043 (9th Cir. 2017)
(citing Telephone Consumer Protection Act of 1991, Pub. L:2UR § 2, 1 12)The TGPA
provides a private right of action, which permits any “person or entity” talam action seeking
(i) to enjoin a violatn of the TCPA, (ii) taecover actual monetary logsin such violation or to
receive statutory damages of $500 per violation, whichever is greater;)dp (pursue both

injunctive or monetary relief. 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(3).

4The TCPA defines an “unsolicited advertisement” as “any materiarasing the commercial availability or quality
of any property, good, or services which is transmitted to any person ttitladperson’s prior express invitation or
permission, in writing or otherwise47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(5)
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Additionally, the TCPA, requires senders to include specificooptnotices on all
unsolicited fax advertisementSee47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C)(iii), (b)(2)(D), (b)(2)(E), (d)(2); 47
CFR § 64.1200(a)(4)(i#jvii). An unsolicited fax advertisement violates the TCPA unless the
sende can establish three things: (i) the sender has an “established businéssstefst with
the recipient; (ii) the sender obtained the recipient’s fax number either threoyimtary
communication with the recipient in the context of the established businessnslgd” or the
recipient voluntarily made his number available in “a directory, advertisemeniteoonsthe
Internet;” and (iii) the unsolicited advertisement contains a compliartuiptotice(hereinafter

“EBR defense”)47 U.S.C. 8§ 227(61)(C). In order for & opt-out notice to be compliant it must

(1) Be clear and conspicuoasd on the first page of the unsolicited advertisement;

(2) State the recipient may opt out of future unsolicited advertisements;

(3) Note that a failure by the sender to comply with a propeoaptequest within
30 days is unlawful;

(4) Include a domestic contact number and fax number for the recipient to send an
opt-out request;

(5) Include a costree mechanism to send an opt-out requaasd;

(6) Instruct the recipient that an eptit request is valid dy if the recipient (i)
sends the request to the number the senderfigenti the notice; (ii) identiés
the fax number to which the eptit request relates; and (iii) does not expressly
invite fax advertisements thereafter.

Seed7 U.S.C. § 227(b)(2)(D)E); 47 C.F.R. 8 64.12@8)(4)(iii), (v). Failure to comply with the
opt-outrequirements is an independent violation of the TCPA and precludes a defendant from

asserting aEBR defenseSee 47 U.S.C. 827(b)(3), (b)(1)(C)fiii).

5The FCC has defined “established business relationship” as:
[A] prior or existing relationship formed by a voluntary tway communication betweenparson
or entity and a business or residential subscriber with or withoutcraege of consideration, on
the basis of an inquiry, application, purchase or transaction by the $gisineesidential subscriber
regarding products or services offered byhsperson or entity, which relationship has not been
previously terminated by either party.

47 C.F.R. 8 64.1200(f)(5); 47 U.S.C. § 227(a)(2).



d. Analysis

Applying these standards, the Court concludes that Cassofheiently alleged an injury
in fact to establish standin@ontrary to Defendant’s assertior&pokeodoes not preclude a
finding of standing in the instant cages Cassagpoints out, the overwhelming number of courts
that have addressed standing in TCPA casesSudtediave found standingSeeRec. Doc20
at p. 14 (citing varous district court desions). ecifically, courtssubsequent t&pokeo have
repeatedly held thatllegations ofvasted time in reviewing unsolicited fax advertisements and the
use of paper and ink toner in printing those advertisencentitute concrete injuries required
to have Article Ill standing under the TCPA andJR®A See, e.g., Kostmayer Construction, LLC
v. Port Pipe & Tube, IncNo. 161012, 2017 WL 5079181 (W.D. La. Nov. 1, 201@jllecting
cases)Palm Beach Gol€Ctr.-Boca, Inc. v. John G. Sarr3.D.S.,P.A, 781 F.3d 1245 (11Gir.
2015) Sandusky Wellness Ctr., LLC v. MedTox Scientific, B&) F. Supp. 3d 354, (D. Minn.
2017);Fauley v. Drug Depot, Inc204 F. Supp. 3d 1008 (N.D. Ill. 2018)Jloreover, courts have
concluded that the receipt of angermissible fax advertisement is a sufficient concrete and
particularized injury to establish standing to bring a TCPA cl8ee, e.g., Van Patten v. Vertical
Fithess Group, LLC847 F.3d 1037, 1043 (9@ir. 2017);Rogers v. Capital One Bank (USA),
N.A.,190 F. Supp. 3d 1144, 114M.D. Ga. 2016)Progressive Health & Rehab Corp. v. Strategy

Anesthesia, LLG-- F. Supp. 3d--, No. 16-1151, 2017 WL 4277200 (S.D. Ohio Sept. 25, 2017).

Courtsin this districthave similarly foundhatthe occupation oplaintiff's fax machines,
andwasted time, toner, and paper to be sufficient T€&lAted injuries to meet the Article IlI
standing requirementSee Fairwayed.Ctr. LLC v. McGowan Entersinc., No. 163782, 2017
WL 1423883 (E.D. La. Jan. 25, 2017) (J. Ra)jdsartin v. EKF Diagnostics, IncNo. 161816,

2016 WL 7450471 (E.D. La. Dec. 28, 2016) (J. Vanceydrtin v. EKF Diagnostics, IncJudge



Vance denied defendants’ motion to dismiss for lack of Article 11l standingnfinithat plaintiff
had sufficently alleged “judicially cognizable injuries” that are traceable to defeisddntation
of the TCPA: “Dr. Sartin’s alleged injuri¢wasted time and the tying up of his fax lirreg of the
type that the TCPAought to redress, and Congressional judgment supports finding that these

alleged injuries satisfy Article 11l requirementSartin 2016 WL 7450471, at *4.

This Court joins the various circuit and district courts in findimgt Casso has alleged a
corcrete and particularized injusufficient to meet the Articlél standing requirement€asso
alleged thaSpectrum violated the TCPA by sending fax advertisements that were undalitite
failed to contain the statutordypandated opbut language In addition to alleging TCPA
procedural violationsCassospecifically allegedadditional,real harmit suffered as a result of
receivingSpectrum’s unsolicited faxescludingdisruption,annoyance, costhe loss of use of
their telephone lines and fax machine during receipt of the uriedlii@ixesmisappropriatiorof
fax paper and toner, and loss of time to $axes. (Rec. Doc. 1 at p. $Jonsequently, Casso has

sufficiently allegedca concrete injury in factvhich satisfiedArticle Il standing.

Additionally, the Courtrejects Spectrum’s argumerthat the established business
relationshipdefensewarrants dismissal in this cadéven construing Spectrum’s argument as a
12(b)(6) motion, the Court finds that dismissal at this stage in the proceedings waulottyeer
as Spectrundid not meet its burden of provinge applicability of the EBR defens€asso
adamantly contests Spectrgaissertiothatit had arestablished business relationsiwith Casso
through Oncology RX, LLC*Casso has nevdone any business with, voluntarily communicated
with, or in any way asked to receive correspondence of any type from SpédRaen. Doc. 20

at p. 2). Whether Spectrum can show that it hadstabkshedusiness relationshipith Casso
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that its faxes @ntained valid opbut notices,or that it otherwise satisfies the requirements of
Section 227(b)(1)(Care issues of merit, not of standifesolution of these issues involve a fact
intensive inquiry that is not suitable for this motigccordingly, atthis time, absent further

discovery and briefinghe Court does not finthatDefendant falls under the exception provided

by 47 U.S.C. § 227(b)(1)(C).

II. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasonBl IS ORDERED that Spectrum’sRule 12(b)(1) Mtion ©

Dismissfor lack of Subject Matter JurisdictioRec. Doc13)is DENIED.

New Orleans, Louisiana, this 5th day of February 2018.

2 Wscd—

KURT D. ENGELHARDT
United States Distria¥Judge
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